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1.0 Executive Summary

An archaeological watching brief was conducted by Glasgow University Archaeological Research Division (GUARD) at Fearn Abbey to monitor any potential impact arising from the installation of services around the church and in the cemetery and to record any archaeological features or material encountered (Figure 1).  Some evidence for structural and other activity, potentially as early as the Medieval period, was encountered, although the narrow trenches within which the work took place preclude absolute statements regarding date and function.  No in situ burials were disturbed during the fieldwork, although as anticipated a quantity of disarticulated human bone was encountered, some of which was lifted and retained.  The planning authority should now decide whether the work merits producing a short report for publication and whether any analysis of the recovered human remains should be undertaken prior to their interment. 

2.0 Introduction

This report describes the results of an archaeological watching brief at Fearn Abbey, Easter Ross (NGR NW 8373 7728), conducted by GUARD on behalf of LDN Architects according to terms of reference provided by the Archaeology Unit of the Highland Council Planning and Development Service.  The work was carried out in two phases in tandem with maintenance work occasioned by a successful Heritage Lottery Fund application by the Church of Scotland (Fearn Abbey and Nigg Chapelhill Parish) Congregational Board.  The first phase involved the watching brief associated with the service trenches opened within the graveyard between 9 and 14 April 2001 (see Trenches 1 and 2 below).  The second phase was carried out between 4 and 13 June 2001 (see Trench 3 below) and was concerned with the trenches excavated around the perimeter of the kirk for the placement of the drainage pipes, laid to carry off surface water from the roof of the structure.

The weather throughout the fieldwork was variable, but this did not affect the archaeological work undertaken.

3.0 Historical Background
Slade (2000) sets out the history of Fearn Abbey, which is summarised below.  Farquhar, 1st Earl of Ross, established the Abbey of Fearn, a house of Premonstratensian Canons, some time between 1221 and 1227.  St Norbert of Cleves, Emperor Henry IV’s chaplain, had founded the order itself in 1120 in France as a reformed branch of the Augustinian rule.  St Norbert acted in response to a vision in which ‘lui avars montré le pré’ (‘one had shown him the meadow’), dictating where he should found his order.  ‘Montré le pré’ became ‘prémontré’  (the revealed meadow) and thus the order was called the Premonstratensian Order.  Of the 30 or so houses of the Order that were founded, five were located in Scotland.

The original site of Fearn Abbey was at Kincardine, but it was moved to its present site in 1238.  The exact reasons for this geographical shift are unknown, as all early records and charters relating to the foundation were destroyed, along with the chapel of St Duthac where they were being stored, in 1427.

Fearn was considered a daughter house of Whithorn, although the foundation at Dryburgh held primacy among the Order in Scotland.  The kirk became ruinous at some point in the earlier part of the fourteenth century to such an extent that it had to be rebuilt.  The work commenced during the abbacy of Mark 1338-1352, the seventh in line since the foundation, and was substantially completed by 1372, during the tenure of the ninth abbot, Donald II.  The permanent roof of the kirk was not completed until early in the fifteenth century.

After the Reformation, the last remnant of the old Order passed away with the death of the sub-prior, David Reid, in July 1583 when he was still based in the abbey.  The lands associated with Fearn passed into the hands of the Crown in 1587.  Fearn is first noted as an independent parish in the late 1620s, when it separated from Tarbat, and has remained in use as a place of worship for the Church of Scotland to the present day.  The last major period of rebuilding and refurbishment of the kirk came about in the middle of the eighteenth century as the result of a terrible tragedy.  During a service on 10 October 1742, the roof collapsed, killing somewhere between 17 and 60 of the congregation. 
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Several elements of repair work followed this event.  A new slate roof was built, on a lower pitch than the steep, flagged roof that had collapsed.  The west gable and bellcote were rebuilt on new foundations on the original line.  New Venetian windows were inserted in the gables; the north wall was rebuilt;  various new doors and windows were added, and the archway from St Michael’s Aisle was blocked up.  It was not until 20 July 1773 that all repairs were completed.  Since then the kirk has stood much as it does today.
4.0 The Structural Remains

The following brief discussion is concerned only with the basic ground plan of the surviving buildings of the abbey.  There is no scope within a watching brief to provide a detailed study of the fabric and features of the standing building.  The detail provided here provides a framework within which the location of the service and drainage trenches can be fitted.

The existing ground plan of the kirk shows a rectangular structure approximately 32.5 m east to west by 10.3 m north to south.  There are three additions to this basic ground plan.  The earliest of the three is the late fifteenth century St Michael’s Aisle on the south side of the nave.  Only the bottom courses of this structure survive.  The other two additions are small burial aisles, one on the south side in the easternmost bay and the other on the north side.  The former dates from around 1550 and is associated with the Ross family, while the latter may be as late as the early seventeenth century and is said to have been built by the Douglas family.  The aisles will be referred to as the Ross and Douglas Aisles for the purposes of this report.  These are the only upstanding remains of the abbey and form part of the kirk as it is used today.  There is no sign of auxiliary buildings associated with the abbey within the perimeter graveyard wall.

The only other upstanding monuments within the area are the dozens of gravestones in the yard.  These memorials vary from recumbent, rectangular stones to table slabs to headstones and have dates ranging from the early seventeenth century to the late twentieth century.  There are recumbent effigies in both St Michael’s and the Ross Aisle, which may date from the late fifteenth to the mid sixteenth centuries.

5.0 The Watching Brief

5.1 
Aims and Methodology

The aims of the watching brief were to fulfil the specifications of the Highland Council Archaeology Service brief (Section 11).  All ground-breaking work related to the drainage improvements at Fearn was carried out by A Wilson Drainage and Agricultural Contractors Ltd.  All excavations were by hand with a permanent archaeological presence to monitor the layers/features encountered.  All layers/features exposed were recorded to professional standards by photography, written description and measured drawing.  Several features encountered necessitated the revision of the route planned for the trenches by LDN Architects Ltd.  Such deviations were designed to preserve the integrity of features encountered where in situ preservation was deemed the appropriate response.  All such revisions were agreed on-site with representatives of AF Cruden Associates (Consulting Engineers).

5.2 
Results

The first phase of the archaeological programme involved monitoring the hand excavation of the trenches running from the kirk out of the graveyard to link the drainage system to the service pipes west of the site.  These were labelled Trench 1 (the eastern, shorter outflow) and Trench 2 (the western, longer outflow).

Trench 1 (for general location see Figure 2)
This trench ran from the north-east corner of the kirk to the graveyard perimeter.  An area c 0.4 m wide was opened along the east side of the most easterly buttress on the north wall. The trench ran north for approximately 1.3 m before turning toward the north-east and continuing for 3.6 m to the enclosing wall.  The maximum depth of the trench was 0.7 m.
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The layers encountered in this trench are listed and described fully in the concordances at the end of this report.  Of particular interest was layer 1005, rough cobbling composed of rounded and sub-angular stones in a matrix of mixed yellow and mid-brown loam.  This was fairly deep (c 0.6 m) below the present level of the churchyard and may relate to the Medieval monastery.

Context 1004 sealed this layer, and from the presence of mortar and sandstone fragments seems to be a construction/demolition layer.  These fragments are identical to the type of stone and mortar used in the construction of wall 2007 in Trench 2 (see below).  Layer 1004 probably represents the destruction debris from previously standing annexes to the abbey church.  No absolute date can be assigned to these layers, however, as there were no stratified artefacts in any of the deposits in this trench.  Some disarticulated human bone was recovered from layer 1003.  Deposit 1002 is possibly related to recent landscaping of the churchyard.

Trench 2 (for general location see Figure 2)
This trench ran from the south-west corner of the kirk for c 13 m in a westerly direction to the perimeter wall.  The trench was deepest at the west (up to 0.9 m) and grew shallower, to 0.5 m, at the east.

The layers encountered in this trench are listed and described fully in the concordances at the end of this report.  Wall foundation 2007 was recorded in this trench one metre from the west wall of the kirk.  No dating evidence was recovered from any layer in the trench, making it impossible to ascribe an exact date to this feature.  It may relate to a known western annex to the church.  The limited area of excavation (trench was 0.3 m wide at this point) also makes characterisation of the wall difficult.  Deposits 2002 and 2008 may be destruction layers related to the structure represented by 2007.  The near vertical cut (2004) for the churchyard wall was recorded at the west extremity of the trench. 

Trench 3 (for general location see Figure 2)

This trench followed the line of the kirk wall and has been broken down into sections for ease of description in this report.  Each section of the trench will be described in relation to each of the four sides of the kirk, with additional architectural information added to help link the description more exactly to the area under discussion.  The description follows the order in which each section of the trench was opened.

The first section was excavated along the west end of the south wall.  This cutting started at the south-west corner and progressed east, past the stairs to the westernmost entrance to the kirk.  Little of interest was noted in this section, other than the demolition/construction layer (3002) noted elsewhere.  Immediately east of the stairs just described (less than 0.4 m away), a line of mortared sandstone blocks (3003) was noted protruding from the north facing baulk (Figure 3).  This feature stood to at least five courses high (0.6 m) and continued below the depth of the trench.  The feature was only visible along a 1.3 m stretch.  This was a curious feature, as it was on the same alignment as the kirk wall (that is, east/west) but stood only some 0.4 m away.  This would seem to preclude its having been part of an annexe or porch along this west wall.  Too little was visible to confidently conclude what the feature represents  It should be noted that a late nineteenth-century gravestone is bonded to the top of 3003, and it may simply be a stone plinth to carry its weight.  This leaves the question as to why the feature is so large and why the mortar and sandstone are so similar to those used in the construction of the kirk.  Nothing further was recorded in this stretch of the trench, which stopped 0.6 m west of the west wall of St Michael’s Aisle.  The trench ranged between 0.6 m deep at the west to 0.5 m at the east and was between 0.4-0.5 m wide.

The south wall of the kirk, as exposed below ground level, revealed large, tightly keyed sandstone blocks.  Only one course of these blocks was visible and the base of the foundation was not exposed.  The blocks were larger than those visible in the wall above and were bonded with sand mortar.
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The second section excavated was along the west gable wall.  The depth of the trench along this section ranged from 0.5 m at the south to 0.9 m at the north.  The width varied from 0.2 m to 0.5 m generally, but small strips were as much as one metre wide.  Below turf and topsoil (3001), a layer very similar to 3002 was recorded, although this context (3004) had more mortar and larger sandstone fragments within it.  Disarticulated human bone was recovered from it. 

At the south end of the west wall, foundation stones were recorded protruding westward (Figure 4).  This was the remnant of a substantial wall base consisting of an inner and outer face of dressed and faced sandstone (3005) with a rubble and mortar core (3006).  A further line of smaller, rectangular blocks (3007) was also recorded, abutting 3005 at the north side.  The distance between the north and south faces of 3005 was 1.2 m.  Stones 3005 and 3006 projected across the entire width of the trench (0.85 m).  The trench was 0.6 m deep at this point and two courses of 3005 were visible, although the wall base clearly continued below the limit of the excavation.

At the north end of this section of the trench a similar feature was recorded (Figure 5).  Projecting westward from the north corner of the west wall, and on the same alignment as that wall, were foundation stones 3010 and 3012.  Again, a rubble and mortar core (3011) was recorded between two faces of dressed and faced sandstone blocks.  The upper block at the north and all three exposed courses at the south (3010) mirrored 3005 almost exactly, being 1.24 m from face to face and the north line being flush with the north wall.  However, the north face differed from the south face of the first foundation described.  Below 3010, the stones of the foundation were chamfered to project beyond the north wall.  The chamfered stones (3012) were two courses deep, with the upper stone projecting 0.16 m north and the lower stone projecting a further 0.08 m.  The second stone rested on a vertical-faced line of blocks.  The south and west parts of this feature have been damaged and partially removed by the introduction of an electrical mains line and a sewer pipe, both drilled through the west wall of the kirk.  The feature extended westward for at least one metre (i.e. as wide as the widest part of the trench).  The foundations were exposed to a depth of 0.9 m at this point but the base was not exposed.  One of the projecting stones 3012 was removed during the course of this excavation.  The pipe could not run over the top of the block, as the height would have negated its drainage capability.  The only other option was to extend the trench to the west to find the edge of this feature.  It was felt that this was not a suitable option, as the trench would have strayed across several burial plots at a depth likely to disturb in situ inhumations.  

Between the two features, just described two gravestones lay in the line of the pipe.  One headstone that rested against the west wall had to be temporarily removed.  This nineteenth-century memorial was 3.6 m north of the south-west corner of the kirk and sunk to a depth of 0.55 m.  The stone was reinstated to its original position after the pipe was laid.  Another gravestone rested against the west wall.  Located 6.55 m north of the south-west corner of the kirk, this nineteenth-century memorial was too massive to move and rested on a stone-built plinth which was at least 0.8 m deep.  The trench had to deviate from the line of the west wall to skirt the base of the memorial.  To this end a 0.2 m wide trench was excavated around the south side of the gravestone.  The minimum width successfully avoided any burial within the plot.

A blocked opening (3008) was recorded in the west wall, 4.35 m from the south-west corner of the kirk.  This feature was only visible only after the removal of 3001 and 3004.  Either side of the blocked opening is marked by sandstone blocks, 1.65 m apart, which all have one chamfered edge facing the opening.  On the south side there are three courses with a chamfered edge, on the north side only two.  These blocks are set within the west gable and stand 0.65 m high on either side.  The opening has been blocked with two large sandstone blocks with three to four courses of smaller blocks wedged in the north side.  The large blocks protrude 0.05-0.06 m from the wall face, the only stones to do  so on  the  flat  gable  surface.   Some of the blocking stones are mortared.  The chamfered edge cannot be traced above ground level on the north side but is noticeable for 0.1 m above the turf on the south.  The masonry above this feature is heavily mortared/concreted, which may obscure related butt-joints higher up on the west gable.  What purpose this opening served is unknown, but it may be an entrance to a vault.  
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The excavations along the north wall encountered two logistical problems relating to the structural remains of the kirk not encountered along the south and west walls.  The first of these relates to the chamfered foundations noted above.  The foundations along the north wall projected 0.24 m from the line of the wall face.  This meant that the trench was initially excavated at a greater width to allow the pipe to be sunk to the required depth.  The second difference related to the three buttresses that project beyond the line of the wall.  The trench had to deviate from a straight line to pass around the buttresses.

Below turf and topsoil (3001) was a dark brown, well mixed, clayey loam with demolition/construction debris of sandstone, slate and mortar fragments (3009).  A quantity of disarticulated bone was recovered from this context. 

Potentially in situ inhumations were encountered immediately east of the westernmost buttress on the north wall (Figure 2).  Two skulls (Sks 1 and 2) partially overlay each other at a depth of 0.7 m. Part of an iron handle (SF 002) and some poorly preserved wood were also recorded in association with Sk 2.  On consultation with the contractor it was established that the depth of the trench could be brought up to 0.4 m in this area.  Only the surfaces of the skulls were exposed and recorded before terram was placed over them and 0.3 m of soil re-deposited to leave the skeletons protected in situ.  Adjacent burial plots indicated that the widening of the trench to ascertain whether these skulls were articulated would have led to the exhumation of several skeletons.  The course of action taken was deemed to be the most archaeologically sensitive.

At a distance of 0.8 m beyond the western buttress, the trench was cut 0.4 m away from the north wall to minimise the amount of ground disturbed by avoiding the projecting foundations.  At 1.9 m east of the second buttress, another feature was encountered.  A concentration of stone tumble (3013), consisting of rubble and broken slabs (one dressed) was uncovered (Figure 6).  While this was being examined, two recumbent slabs (3014) and (3015) were also uncovered 2 m east of 3013 (Figure 6).  The presence of these features and the likelihood of burials below them led to a revision of the proposed pipeline.  An 0.4 m wide trench was excavated up to 2 m from the wall to avoid the features just described. 

Feature 3013 was not further examined but may be a collapsed recumbent slab.  The two recumbent slabs east of this were revealed directly below 3001.  Slab 3014, closest to the kirk wall, is rectangular, of red sandstone and aligned east-west (1.7 m by 0.8 m).  There was no obvious design on the heavily weathered upper face.  The edges of this stone may be chamfered on the underside, suggesting it may now lie upside down.  Immediately adjacent to 3014 and on the same alignment is slab 3015.  This slab is of blonde sandstone and measures 1.8 m by 0.8 m.  Three rows of letters are discernible on the upper surface; the first row is ‘R R’, the second ‘C C’ or ‘G G’ (first letter is weathered), the third ‘M Mc’ or ‘I Mc’ (first letter is heavily weathered).  Below the lettering is a design of a cross or four-petalled flower (see Fig 6).  These grave markers may be seventeenth century in date.  Both slabs were left exposed after re-instatement of the trenches.

The trench cut diagonally from the corner of 3015 to the east end of the blocked arch on the north wall (Fig 6).  The final section of the trench was 0.3 m wide and deep, ran along the wall and terminated 0.4 m short of the west wall of the Douglas Aisle.  At the east end of the trench, another line of foundation stones was recorded running north from the north wall (Figure 6).  One dressed stone (3016) was partially uncovered 0.25 m below ground level and in association with a rubble and mortar core (3017) at the east of it.  A small section of another, possibly dressed stone was uncovered east of 3017.  This foundation was very similar in form to those described at the west wall.  The drainage works did not disturb this feature and it is not known to which phase of building it belongs, other than that 3016 is keyed into the north wall and therefore not a later addition. Excavation continued along the north wall to the east of the east wall of the Douglas Aisle and skirted around the east buttress on the north wall and the north buttress on the east wall (Figure 2).

Little of interest was recorded along this stretch, although the chamfered foundations were again exposed in this section of the trench.  It should be noted that there was evident repair to the base of both buttresses.  Some of the chamfered foundations had been replaced with less dressed stonework, i.e. rectangular blocks.  Some disarticulated human bone was recovered from 3009 in this area.
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The trench along the east wall was 0.5 m wide and 0.5 m deep (Figure 2).  The chamfered foundations noted elsewhere were also evident along this gable.  A nineteenth-century gravestone located 2.06 m from the south buttress was temporarily removed and re-instated in its original position.  

Between 2-6 m from the north buttress a large quantity of disarticulated human bone was recovered from the topsoil (3019).  This included several large skull fragments from various individuals, lower mandibles, long bones and ribs.  All of this material (comprising enough to fill two standard boxes) was located directly below the turf and had been dumped at all angles.  The reason for this is unknown.  It may relate to the clearing of vaults within the kirk at some stage or it may be a collection of material from other plots that had been placed here.  This material was collected for analysis.

A potentially in situ inhumation was encountered some 6.5 m south of the north buttress (Sk 3) (Figure 2).  As with Sks 1 and 2, only the top surface of the skull was uncovered.  This was recorded in situ, terram was placed over the top and 0.2 m of soil re-deposited over it.  The depth at which the pipe was laid was brought up to preserve the burial in situ.

The depth of the trench around the east face of the south buttress was only 0.28 m.  This was caused by the presence of two recumbent grave slabs that partially overlay the projecting foundations.  The grave slabs were left undisturbed in order to preserve the burials below.  The trench terminated at the junction of the south side of this buttress and the east wall of the Ross Aisle.  The original plan saw the trench extended into the Ross Aisle.  However, de-turfing of the area in front of the steps leading into that aisle showed the foundations continued below a depth of 0.6 m.  The pipe could only have run into the aisle by removing the steps.  As the arch for the doorway springs from the steps, this was structurally inadvisable and the plan was changed accordingly.

Two areas were marked for ground lowering in an attempt to stop water saturation around the foundations of the kirk.  The first of these areas, around the north half of the west gable, was not disturbed, as the likelihood of encountering in situ burials was high.  The second area was between the entrance to the kirk and the west wall of the Ross Aisle (Figure 2).  The turf and topsoil (3001) were removed and 0.26 m of the underlying silty sand (3020) excavated.  The turf was then replaced.  This covered an area of 3.7 m east-west by up to 1.1 m.  A small quantity of disarticulated human bone was recovered.

6.0 Discussion

The ground-breaking works associated with upgrading the drainage system at Fearn Abbey were kept to the absolute minimum necessary.  The trenches were seldom over 0.5 m wide and 0.5 deep, and in some cases the keyhole was less than 0.3 m wide and deep.  This ensured that any archaeological deposits suffered minimum disturbance and no in situ burials had to be exhumed.  

The constricted nature of the work makes discussion of any features encountered problematic.  No diagnostic finds pre-dating the modern era were recovered from any trench.  The deposits encountered were predominantly construction/demolition layers that had been well mixed through centuries of burial.  Only three possible in situ burials were encountered.  This was due to the proximity of the trenches to the wall base and the unlikelihood of burials so close to the foundations.  The flexibility of the project design also helped to preserve all in situ burials and features encountered.

Little can confidently be said about features like the cobbled surface 1004, other than that the depth at which it was encountered would suggest a relationship with the Medieval foundation.  The foundation of the perimeter wall exposed in trench 1 suggests it is of comparatively modern construction.  The generally polygonal shape of the enclosure further supports this, as it appears to be an ad hoc construction relating as much to buildings to the south as it does to the abbey.  Little can be said about other features, such as 3003, due to the limited area exposed. 

The trenches did reveal the expert construction and dressing of the foundation stones.  The ground level after construction was clearly lower than it is today, as these foundations were built to be seen.
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The absence of similar foundations at the west and south perhaps suggests extensive rebuilding from the ground up in these areas. The only place where the chamfered foundations are visible is at the south side of the Ross Aisle.  As this is a later addition, it would suggest that the original abbey foundations were visible when that was constructed and thus copied.  The ground has probably risen considerably since the Reformation and the building’s conversion to a parish church and burial ground.

The features of greatest interest were recorded in trench 3.  The projecting foundations noted at the north and south corners of the west wall are marked as the ‘vestiges of building extending 21’ west’ on Shand’s plan of the abbey, drawn in 1815 (Slade, 2000; 29).  Slade states that:

‘A major addition to the kirk, of which nothing survives above ground, was the Denoon Chapel, built between 1528 and 1540…said to have extended some 40 feet to the west’ (ibid, 28).

The west gable is clearly keyed into foundations 3005/3006 and 3010/3011/3012, and there is no butt-joint between these foundations and those of the south and west walls.  The lines of the foundations are continuous.  If the foundations recorded in trench 3 relate to the structure mentioned by Slade, then it would suggest that the entire west gable was razed to the ground when this was built and the foundations added seamlessly to the west.  This seems unlikely.  The other possible scenarios are:

the Denoon chapel was built on the foundations of an earlier structure, which extended west beyond the west gable but which was, nevertheless, part of the original ground plan. 

the ground plan of the kirk was originally larger than that which we see today.  Either the kirk has been shortened at the west at some point, or the foundations were laid out and then the plan changed to construct a shorter building.

The foundations (2007) recorded in trench 2 may relate to any of these scenarios.  The history of the building may be somewhat more complex than is currently understood.  This is borne out by foundations 3016 and 3017 protruding from the north wall.  Again these are keyed into that wall and therefore not a later addition.  There seems to have been an annexe at the north envisaged in the original ground plan.  The Douglas Aisle has been constructed over the area of whatever the original was.

The blocked entrance 3008 in the west wall may also be significant.  While it may be an opening to a crypt within the kirk, it could be the vestiges of a western door; as Slade states, ‘…certainly there was…to give entry to the kirk for the laity and great processions.’ (ibid 27)

7.0 Recommendations

The work resulted in minimal disturbance of archaeological features and/or deposits.  However, the foundations recorded at the west end may merit a short published note.  

The scope of this report does not allow for a detailed fabric study of the walls.  However, the kirk would clearly benefit from in-depth architectural analysis and standing building survey to help answer some of the questions raised through the watching brief.

The artefacts recovered were few and will not illuminate the sequence of the structural elements.  The disarticulated human bone recovered is to be expected in a graveyard of this antiquity, but should be examined by an osteoarchaeologist prior to final deposition.  The final decision on the need for further post-excavation work rests solely with the planning authority.
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10.0 Concordances
10.1 Photo Record (colour slide & black and white print; except where denoted)

No
Trench
Subject
From
Date

1
2
Wall 2007, pre-ex
N
19/04/01

2 
2
Wall 2007, pre-ex
N
19/04/01

3
1
General Shot of Trench 1
W
19/04/01

4
1
Buttress plinth in Trench 1
W
19/04/01

5
-
SE Annex of church
SE
20/04/01

6
-
Effigy in SE Annex
N
20/04/01

7
-
Effigy in SW Annex
N
20/04/01

8
-
N Annex of church
NW
20/04/01

9
-
General shot of church
E
20/04/01

10
-
SW corner of church, showing evidence
S
23/04/01



appended structure

11
-
Service trench in field north of graveyard
W
04/06/01

12
-
Service trench in field north of graveyard
E
04/06/01

13
3
Trench at SW of church along S wall
SW
04/06/01

14-16
3
Detail of wall foundation (003) below 
S
04/06/01


gravestone (Peter Bain, Merchant, Fearn,


21st May 1881)

17
3
Eastern part of trench along S wall
W
04/06/01

18
3
Working shot – removal of gravestone
W
05/06/01



(Thomas McKenzie, Merchant,



Barbaraville, 19th March 1828)



from west gable

19-20
3
Detail of architectural fragment RF 001
W
05/06/01

21
3
Disarticulated bone in situ below under
W
05/06/01



removed gravestone

22-23
3
Foundations at S end of W wall 005, 006, 007
W
05/06/01

24-25
3
As 22-23
N
05/06/01

26-27
3
As 22-23
S
05/06/01

28
3
Foundation 003 as further exposed at east
W
05/06/01

29
3
Blocked opening in west gable. Opening
W
05/05/01



marked at either end by chamfered blocks

30
3
008 – detail of chamfered N edge
W
05/06/01

31
3
008 – detail of chamfered S edge
W
05/06/01

32
3
As 29
W
05/06/01

33
3
Gravestone propped against W end of N
N
05/06/01



wall

34-35
3
Foundations on S wall, E of stairs after re-
W
05/06/01



pointing

36-37
3
Foundation wall , 005, 006 & 007
N
05/06/01

38
3
Deep stone foundation for large memorial



(John Ross, Road Contractor, 25th June



1882) on W wall

39
3
Location shot of John Ross memorial stone
W
05/06/01

40
3
Trench around the Ross gravestone
W
05/06/01

41
3
As above
S
05/06/01

42
3
As above
N
05/06/01

43
3
Detail of foundations at N end of W wall –
W
06/06/01



010, 011, 012

44
3
As above
N
06/06/01

45
3
As above
W
06/06/01

46
3
As above
N
06/06/01

47
3
SK 1 & 2 at E of W buttress on N wall
N
06/06/01
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48
3
SK 1 & 2 with buttress at W
N
06/06/01

49
3
W buttress on N wall
W
06/06/01

50
3
Foundations 011, 012 & 013 after removal
N
06/06/01



of one block

51-52
3
SK 1 & 2 and possible coffin handle
S
06/06/01

53
3
Feature 013
E
07/06/01

54
3
Detail of grooved stone within 013
E
07/06/01

55
3
Trench around N of church (inc moved
E
07/06/01



Celtic cross memorial

56
3
Trench from 014 & 015 to E buttress on 
E
07/06/01



N wall

57
3
Trench from 014 & 015 to E limit
W
07/06/01

58
3
Trenches between buttresses on N wall
NE
07/06/01

59
3
General shot of trench along N wall
NW
07/06/01

60
3
Fearn Abbey N side – work in progress
N
07/06/01

61-70
3
Grave slabs 014 & 015 – general and detail
E
08/06/01

71
-
E wall including gravestone to be moved
E
11/06/01

72
-
E wall of Ross burial Aisle
ENE
11/06/01

73
-
Group of three recumbent graveslabs at E
E
11/06/01



of S buttress on E wall

74
-
Area between Ross and St Michael’s Aisles
S
11/06/01



before ground lowering

75
-
As above
W
11/06/01

76-78
3
Mass of disarticulated human bone material 
E
11/06/01

79-80
3
As above
S
11/06/01

81-82
3
As above
N
11/06/01

83
3
Trench between E buttress on N wall and 
NE
12/06/01



Douglas Aisle

84
3
Trench along W of E buttress of N wall
N
12/06/01

85
3
Trench along E of E buttress on N wall
N
12/06/01

86
3
Trench along N of N buttress on E wall
E
12/06/01

87
3
Trench along S of N buttress on E wall
E
12/06/08

88
3
Trench along E wall to S side of N buttress
SE
12/06/01

89
3
Trench along E wall to N side of S buttress
NE
12/06/01

90
3
Detail of SK 3 on east side
S
12/06/01

91
3
Trench along N side of S buttress on E wall
E
12/06/01

92
3
Trench along S side of S buttress on E wall
E
12/06/01

93
3
Deturfed area around steps into Ross Aisle
E
12/06/01

94
3
Sandstone slab within entrance
W
12/06/01

95
3
Foundation below steps into Ross Aisle
NE
12/06/01

96
3
Area between Ross and St Michael’s Aisles
S
12/06/01



after ground lowering

97
3
Recumbent effigy in S wall of Ross Aisle
N
12/06/01

98
3
Architectural fragment in same Aisle
E
12/06/01

99
3
Armorial plaque on N wall of Douglas Aisle
S
12/06/01

100
3
Douglas Aisle
NNE
12/06/01

101
3
Recumbent effigy on S wall of St Michael’s
N
12/06/01



Aisle

102
3
S side of abbey
S
12/06/01

103
3
W side of abbey
NW
12/06/01

104
3
E end of abbey
E
12/06/01

105
3
E end of abbey
NE
12/06/01

10.2 Context List
Trench 1

1001 = turf

1002 = homogenous mixed gravel and loam deposit (loose mid-brown loam with

frequent gravel and small stones (1-5cm). Underlies 1001.
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1003 = compact layer of slightly greasy mid-brown loam containing frequent small 

chips of yellow sandstone (1-3cm) and small angular stones (5-10cm). Underlies 1002.

1004 = compact layer of yellow sand and degraded angular chunks of yellow 

sandstone (5-10cm), with occasional small chunks of lime mortar (1-2cm). Underlies 1003.

1005 = layer of rough cobbling composed of rounded and sub-angular stones (5-

10cm) in a matrix of mixed yellow sand and mid-brown loam. Underlies 1004.

1006 = compact layer of dark grey/brown clayey loam with moderate amounts of 

gravel. Underlies 1005

1007 = cut – foundation cut for churchyard wall (can be seen to cut layers 1003-

1006).  Steep-sided cut, only partially exposed in section.  As the churchyard 

wall slopes in markedly, in order to retain the raised ground of the graveyard, and looks of fairly recent construction = the previous wall may have been removed and the edge of the graveyard straightened with cut 1007, before the wall was built

1008 = Fill of 1007.  Mid-brown clayey loam with occasional sub-angular stones (5-

15cm)

1009 = cut for recent electrical cable, cuts layer 1002

1010 = fill of 1009

Trench 2

2001 = turf

2002 = layer of moderately loose mid-brown loam, with frequent sub-angular rubble 

(5-15cm). Below 2001.

2003 = layer of yellow sand with frequent small rounded stones (1-3cm) and frequent 

angular sandstone rubble (5-15cm) and some lime-mortar fragments (1-5cm). Below 2002.

2004 = cut for churchyard wall – steep-sided, near vertical cut running from below 

2001 and not fully excavated. Cuts 2002 and 2003. Filled by 2005 and 2006.

2005 = Upper fill of 2004.  Mixed mid-brown loam and yellow sand with frequent 

small angular stones (5-10cm) and large angular and sub-angular rubble (10-30cm).

2006 = Lower fill of 2004.  Mid-brown sandy loam with frequent small angular and 

sub-angular stones (5-10cm). Not fully excavated.

2007 = Wall foundation composed of large (20-40cm) sub-angular and undressed 

blocks of sandstone bonded with lime mortar. Underlies 2002 and 2008.

2008 = Mixed layer of yellow sand and yellow gravel with moderate amounts of 

small sub-angular stones (5-10cm). Underlies 2002 and 2007.

Trench 3

3001 = Turf and topsoil

3002 = Dark brown, well mixed clayey loam with demolition/construction debris of 

sandstone and slate chips and mortar fragments. Located within trench along the south of the kirk

3003 = Possible foundation at east of stairs up to west entrance in the south wall. 

Sandstone blocks bonded with shell mortar

3004 = Dark brown, well mixed clayey loam with demolition/construction debris of 

sandstone and slate chips and mortar fragments. Located along west side of kirk (=3002)

3005 = Foundation stones at the south side of the west wall

3006 = Rubble and mortar core of 3005

3007 = Possible paving below 3005 at the N side

3008 = Blocked entrance in W wall

3009 = Dark brown, well mixed clayey loam with demolition/construction debris of 

sandstone and slate chips and mortar fragments. Located along the north side 

of the kirk

3010 = Foundation stones at the north end of the west wall

3011 = Rubble and mortar core of 3010

3012 = Wedge-shaped foundations which run along the north side

3013 = Stone tumble at E of eastern buttress on N wall

3014 = Recumbent, unmarked graveslab against N wall

3015 = Recumbent, inscribed graveslab immediately N of 3014
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3016 = Dressed foundation stones at W side of Douglas Aisle

3017 = Rubble and mortar core of 3016

3018 = Well drained, mixed clayey loam with occasional sandstone and mortar chips 

along E gable

3019 = Topsoil along E gable associated with concentration of disarticulated human 

bone

3020 = Silty sand between the St Michael’s and Ross Aisles

10.3 Recorded Finds
RF 001
Architectural fragment – photographed on-site and stored with
3002


other such pieces in the Douglas Aisle 300 mm x 300 mm x 150mm 


tenoned block, groove on one face
RF 002
Cast iron filial from plot railings
3009

RF 003
Circular stone with scored design
3009

RF 004
Standard long box of disarticulated human bone
Various

RF 005
Standard long box of disarticulated human bone
Various

RF 006
Standard long box of disarticulated human bone
Various

RF 007
Standard long box of disarticulated human bone
Various

10.4 Drawing Record
No.
Trench
Subject
Scale
Drawn By
Date

1
2
S-facing section
1:10
C.Dalglish
19/04/01

2
1
N-facing section
1:10
C.Dalglish
19/04/01

3
1
Post-ex plan of Trench 1
1:20
C.Dalglish
20/04/01

4
2
Post-ex plan of Trench 2
1:40
C.Dalglish
20/04/01

5
N/A
Plan of Kirk
1:100
K. Brady
4/6/01

6
3
Post-ex plan of Trench 3
1:20
K.Brady
4-13/6/01



showing all features


7
3
Section of 3003
1:10
K.Brady
4/6/01

8
3
Section of 3005, 3006, 3007
1:10
K.Brady
6/6/01

9
3
Section of 3010, 3011, 3012
1:10
K.Brady
7/6/01
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11.0 Terms of Reference
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HIGHLAND COUNCIL

 PLANNING AND DEVELOPMENT SERVICE

Archaeology Unit

Brief for archaeological work at

Fearn Abbey, Easter Ross

ARCHAEOLOGICAL WATCHING BRIEF

Background

This specification has been produced in response to the need for an archaeological watching brief to be carried out on site grounds.  It is for a minimum standard of work: a higher standard may be offered and accepted.

Terms of Reference

This specification is for archaeological recording work occasioned by the Heritage Lottery Fund application submitted by the Church of Scotland (Fearn Abbey and Nigg Chapelhill Parish) Congregational Board on 1 December 1998.  It is based on these documents.  If the details are changed a new specification will be needed.  It is valid until 1 January 2001 after which if no work has been carried out a revised specification will be needed.

The specification has been produced for the Church of Scotland (Fearn Abbey and Nigg Chapelhill Parish) Congregational Board, who will be responsible for the work including tendering and contractual arrangements.  Estimates should be obtained from archaeological contractors on the basis of this specification.

Any reference to ‘archaeologist’ in this specification is to be taken to mean a qualified and experienced practitioner acceptable to the Highland Council’s Senior Archaeologist.  This is to ensure that work is carried out to professional standards.  The project should be carried out by, or under the immediate direction of a member of the Institute of Field Archaeologists or an archaeologist of equivalent standing.

Before site works commence, the proposed arrangements including a timetable for the work must be agreed with the Senior Archaeologist in Writing.

The watching brief is to cover all ground disturbance forming part of the project, including drainage and other ancillary works.

Tendering

If the Congregational Board are to seek tenders for the work, such tenders should be accompanied by a project design, statement and evidence of competence, including the CV of the Project Director, and other staff where possible.

Objectives

To record, to professional standards, any features and objects of archaeological importance that will be damaged or destroyed by this development.

Method

A watching brief will be conducted by an archaeologist on all site ground-works, including service trenches so that any finds or features of importance can be recorded to professional standards.

The archaeologist must be given every assistance to enable the archaeological work to be carried out.  Those carrying out site works will need to work closely with the archaeologist and provide all necessary access and other arrangements.  Contractors may need to use differing work practices on site than usual to enable the archaeologist to complete the work.  Where mechanical excavators are to be used, a straight-edged bucket must be used on a back acting machine.  Care will need to be taken to avoid over excavation and the advise of the archaeologist on-site should be adhered to about this.

Should archaeological remains be encountered during the works, the archaeologist must be allowed up to one hour to record each feature.  If longer than this is required, refer to paragraph 6.4.

Monitoring

The Senior Archaeologist will normally monitor projects to ensure that specifications are met.

Monitoring will normally be by unannounced site visit.  Alternative or additional monitoring arrangements may be made in individual cases.

Prior notice of fieldwork starting dates, with contact names and local addresses, telephone numbers and directions and other arrangements for access must be given to the senior archaeologist by the archaeologist contracted to carry out the work.

Any unexpectedly significant or complex discoveries, or any other unexpected occurrences or conditions which might affect the agreed project work or its timetable or cost must be notified immediately to the client and the Senior Archaeologist so that revised arrangements can be made.

Where the archaeological work fails to meet this specification the applicant will be in breach of the planning condition until matters are rectified.

Reporting

Project report

One paper copy for the applicant.

One paper copy for the Area Planning and Building Control Manager.

	


One paper copy for the Archaeology Unit, Planning and Development Service, Council Offices, Glenurquhart Road, Inverness IV3 5NX where it will be available for immediate consultation by the public.

One copy for the Highland SMR as above, on a computer disk in a format compatible with Microsoft Office 95 for Windows.

One paper copy to be deposited with Norman Newton, Libraries Support Unit, 31a Harbour Road, Inverness.

The report must be submitted to all of the above within 4 weeks of the completion of the fieldwork.

The report must include, as a minimum,

Location plan showing the project area and archaeological sites and features affected.  Grid references must be included.

Circumstances and objectives of the work, including a copy of this specification.

Weather and other conditions affecting fieldwork.

Scale plans, and photographs of all archaeological features noted.

A full index to any records or other material generated by the project including its location

A brief analysis of the project results drawing comparative data as appropriate, and a statement of the significance of the results for future research.  Note that a negative result may itself be significant.

General comments and proposals for future archaeological projects arising from the carrying out of this project.

A set of colour slides illustrating the project progress from start to completion.

The completed report will be available for immediate public consultation for research purposes at the  Highland Council Sites and Monument Record.  In addition, the Archaeology Unit also reserves the right to make the report available for reference and research purposes, either on paper, or electronically.  Subject to this, copyright will remain with the author unless specifically transferred in writing, and the Archaeology Unit will assume author’s copyright unless advised otherwise.  The Archaeology Unit will acknowledge copyright in all cases.

Presentation to Community

This specification includes arranging a presentation of the project results to the local community within a year of the completion of the fieldwork.  Arrangements must be agreed with the Senior Archaeologist.

Discovery and Excavation in Scotland

7.3.1
A brief summary of the results must be sent to the Council for Scottish Archaeology for inclusion in Discovery and Excavation in Scotland.  The archaeologist appointed is responsible for any costs incurred in this.

7.  Treasure Trove

The archaeological Contractor must liase with the Assistant Curator (Archaeology) at Inverness Museum and Art Gallery prior to the start of the fieldwork, regarding possible emergency conservation needs and future storage arrangements.  Provision must also be made for a cataloguing system for artefactual material, which will be compatible with the needs of the institution receiving these funds.

	


Any report to the Queen’s and Lord Treasure’s Remembrancer must be copied to the Senior Archaeologist.

General

The archaeologist appointed must be of a professional standing acceptable to the senior Archaeologist and must carry out the work according to the Code of Conduct, standards and guidelines of the Institute of Field Archaeologists.

The main contractor has the responsibility for the Health and Safety of any archaeological staff on site.

The archaeologist is responsible for taking all necessary measures to conform with the Health and Safety at Work Acts and be covered by all necessary insurances.

Any Health and Safety incidents on site involving the archaeologist must be immediately notified to the Health and Safety Executive.

The archaeologist must agree a timetable for the work with the client and the Senior Archaeologist.

The archaeologist appointed will not comment to the press or media without prior approval from the Senior Archaeologist.

Proper provision must be made for prevailing weather conditions in northern Scotland.

The archaeologist agrees by undertaking this work to the terms of this specification.

John Wood

Senior Archaeologist

Wednesday, 7 July 1999.
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